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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 
CENTER FOR BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY ,
 1333 North Oracle Road  
 Tucson, AZ 85705    
     
NORTHWOODS WILDERNESS RECOVERY, 
 147 W. Washington St. 
 Marquette, MI 49855 
       
HABITAT EDUCATION CENTER, 
 1345 Morrison, #1 
 Madison, WI 53703    
        
DOOR COUNTY ENVIRONMENTAL COUNCIL, 
 1916 Viste Rd. 
 Sturgeon Bay, WI 54235   
      
MICHIGAN NATURE ASSOCIATION,     
 326 E. Grand River Avenue 
 Williamston, MI 48895   
 
   Plaintiffs, 
 
 v. 
 
GALE NORTON, Secretary of the Interior,   
 Department of the Interior 
 18th & C Streets, NW  
 Washington, DC 20240 
 
 
   Defendant. 
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COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

INTRODUCTION  

1. This is an action for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief in which Plaintiffs 

Center for Biological Diversity (the “Center”), Northwoods Wilderness Recovery (“NWR”), 

Habitat Education Center (“HEC”), Door County Environmental Council (“DCEC”), and 

Michigan Nature Association (“MNA”) challenge the failure of Defendant Gale Norton, 

Secretary of the Interior (the “Secretary”) to fulfill her mandatory duty to designate critical 

habitat for the Hine’s emerald dragonfly, Somatochlora hineana, as required by the Endangered 
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Species Act (“ESA”).  16 U.S.C. §§ 1531-1544 (2000).  The Hine’s emerald dragonfly is listed 

as an endangered species pursuant to the ESA and is the only dragonfly so protected in the 

United States.  60 Fed. Reg. 5,267 (Jan. 26, 1995).   

2. The ESA requires the Secretary to designate critical habitat for endangered species.  

The ESA also requires the Secretary to protect designated critical habitat areas from adverse 

modification by reviewing federal activities that may affect these areas and suggesting changes 

to the activities so that risks to the species and its habitat are reduced.   

3. Recent studies have shown that endangered species that have critical habitat designated 

are twice as likely to be recovering compared to those species that do not have critical habitat 

designated.  Thus, protecting critical habitat effectuates the ultimate goal of the ESA: the 

recovery of endangered species to the point where the ESA’s protections are no longer 

necessary.   

4. The primary threat to the continued existence of the Hine’s emerald dragonfly is 

destruction of its habitat. 

5. The Secretary has never designated critical habitat for the Hine’s emerald dragonfly.  

The Secretary has never consulted on any federal habitat-modifying activity to insure that 

habitat modifications do not harm the Hine’s emerald dragonfly and/or do not impede the 

species’ recovery.   

6. Indeed, of the 68 species listed as endangered or threatened that can be found in the 

Great Lakes-Big Rivers Region of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (also known as “Region 

3”), the Secretary has designated critical habitat for only four.  One of the four critical habitats 

was designated in 1985 only after citizens petitioned the Secretary to do so, and a second was 

designated in 2001 only after citizens filed a lawsuit to compel the Secretary to designate critical 

habitat.  The other two critical habitats were designated in 1974 and 1978.  The Secretary has 

failed to protect critical habitat in this region on her own volition for over a quarter-century. 

7.   The Secretary’s failure to designate critical habitat is impeding the recovery of the 

Hine’s emerald dragonfly, and puts the continued existence of the species at great risk.  The 
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Secretary is thus violating her mandatory critical habitat duties pertaining to the Hine’s emerald 

dragonfly. 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

8. Plaintiffs seek a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief against the Secretary for her 

continued failure to comply with the ESA.  The Secretary has not designated critical habitat for 

the endangered Hine’s emerald dragonfly, a mandatory protection and recovery action for 

species listed under the ESA.  The Secretary has thus violated the ESA and/or the 

Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706 (2000) (“APA”).   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 1540 (c) & (g) 

(action arising under the ESA citizen suit provision) and 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (action presenting a 

federal question).  Alternatively, this court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 to 

determine whether the Secretary has violated the APA, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 706, by 

unlawfully withholding or denying critical habitat protections for the Hine’s emerald dragonfly 

under the ESA.  Relief is appropriate pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201, 28 U.S.C. § 2202, 5 U.S.C. 

§§ 701 et seq., and 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(1).   

10. An actual and present controversy exists between the parties within the meaning of the 

Declaratory Judgment Act.  28 U.S.C. § 2201. 

11. Venue is properly vested in this Court pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(3)(A) and 28 

U.S.C. § 1391(e) as the Secretary officially resides in Washington, D.C.   

12. On March 3, 2003, the Secretary received a 60-day notice of intent to file suit regarding 

the Secretary’s continued failure to designate critical habitat for the Hine’s emerald dragonfly.  

Receipt of the 60-day noticed was acknowledged by Charles M. Wooley, Assistant Regional 

Director of Ecological Services for the Fish and Wildlife Service’s Great Lakes-Big Rivers 

Region, by letter dated April 24, 2003.   

13. On October 29, 2003, Plaintiffs sent via telefax a second 60-day notice of Plaintiffs’ 

intent to file suit regarding the Secretary’s violations of the ESA as set forth in this Complaint.  
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Charles M. Wooley, Assistant Regional Director of Ecological Services for the Fish and 

Wildlife Service’s Great Lakes-Big Rivers Region, acknowledged the October 29, 2003 receipt 

of the second 60-day notice in a letter dated November 21, 2003.   

14. More than sixty days have passed since the Secretary received the 60-day notice letters.  

The Secretary has not acted to remedy her violations of law notwithstanding such notice.   

PARTIES 

15. Plaintiff CENTER FOR BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY is a non-profit corporation with 

over 9,000 members and offices in San Diego, Idyllwild, and Oakland, California; Sitka, 

Alaska; Portland, Oregon; Tucson and Phoenix, Arizona; Denver, Colorado; and Silver City, 

New Mexico.  The Center is dedicated to the preservation, protection, and restoration of 

biodiversity, native species, ecosystems, and public lands.  The Center has members that reside, 

work, and recreate in areas that constitute the historic and current range of the Hine’s emerald 

dragonfly.  The Center’s members and staff have educational, scientific research, biological, 

aesthetic, moral, spiritual, and recreational interests in the Hine’s emerald dragonfly.  The 

Center’s members and staff use and enjoy, and intend to continue to use and enjoy, lands where 

the Hine’s emerald dragonfly is found and which would likely be designated as critical habitat 

under proper application of the ESA.  The Center’s interests and those of its members and staff 

have been, are being, and unless the requested relief is granted, will continue to be adversely 

affected and injured by the Secretary’s ESA violations.  The Center brings this action on its own 

behalf and on behalf of its adversely affected members and staff. 

16. Plaintiff NORTHWOODS WILDERNESS RECOVERY is a non-profit corporation 

dedicated to the protection and preservation of the environment in Michigan and Wisconsin 

through public advocacy and the private enforcement of federal, state, and local environmental 

laws and regulations.  NWR is headquartered in Marquette, Michigan.  NWR members have an 

interest in the protection, preservation, and restoration of the Hine’s Emerald Dragonfly and its 

habitat in Michigan, Wisconsin, and throughout the rest of the species’ range.  NWR’s members 

have educational, scientific, moral, and spiritual interests in the species.  NWR’s members also 
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enjoy the biological, recreational, and aesthetic values of the areas inhabited by the Hine’s 

emerald dragonfly.  NWR and its members are advocates for efforts to protect and preserve the 

habitat essential to the continued survival of the Hine’s emerald dragonfly and use many of the 

specific areas where it survives today. 

17. Plaintiff HABITAT EDUCATION CENTER is a non-profit organization whose 

mission is to improve the health and viability of wildlife habitats through public education, 

scientific commentary, enforcement of existing laws, grassroots organizing, and litigation.  HEC 

uses scientific knowledge and public education to achieve its goals.  The staff and board of HEC 

derive enjoyment from lands where the Hine’s emerald dragonfly resides, and maintains a 

continued moral, spiritual, aesthetic, and scientific interest in the Hine’s Emerald Dragonfly and 

the habitats upon which the species depends.  HEC is currently producing a video about the 

Hine’s emerald dragonfly and will continue to visit the species’ habitats for this purpose 

throughout 2004.   

18. Plaintiff DOOR COUNTY ENVIRONMENTAL COUNCIL is a non-profit 

conservation organization.  DCEC was founded in 1970 and incorporated in 1971 for the 

purpose of protecting and preserving the unique resources of Door County, Wisconsin for future 

generations.  The founders realized that new and increased development threats to Door County 

would jeopardize the sustainability—and result in the destruction of—many of the county’s 

natural features.  Through the years, DCEC has engaged in this on-going struggle with 

testimony, education, and leadership by example to create new awareness of these valuable 

resources.   In the 1990’s, DCEC members and staff provided comments and testimony in 

support of the Hine’s emerald dragonfly’s listing as endangered under the federal ESA.  DCEC 

members and staff continue to advocate for the protection of the Hine’s emerald dragonfly and 

its habitat, particularly those areas within Door County where the species resides.   At least one 

member of the DCEC Board of Directors owns property adjacent to known Hine’s emerald 

dragonfly habitat that should be designated—at least in part—as critical habitat for the species. 
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19. Plaintiff MICHIGAN NATURE ASSOCIATION is a non-profit conservation 

organization.   MNA is Michigan’s oldest land preservation organization, specializing in 

preserving rare and endangered species and their associated habitat.  Since 1952, MNA has 

worked to preserve endangered and threatened species throughout Michigan.  The recovery of 

the Hine’s emerald dragonfly is of great interest to MNA.  MNA members, staff, and volunteers 

have visited the documented habitat for the Hine’s emerald dragonfly and have also searched for 

the species on MNA sanctuaries.  Currently there is no evidence that the species occupies any of 

the eleven MNA maintained wildlife and plant sanctuaries.  The absence of this species from 

MNA sanctuaries is a source of ongoing disappointment and harm to MNA’s members and staff.  

However, the recovery of the species would likely result in the Hine’s emerald dragonfly 

occupying some MNA sanctuaries because the sanctuaries contain suitable and historic habitat 

for the species and because some of the sanctuaries are very close to current Hine’s emerald 

dragonfly habitat.  MNA is currently in negotiations to purchase lands for a new sanctuary in the 

Upper Peninsula of Michigan where it is believed the Hine’s emerald dragonfly resides.  Many 

MNA sanctuaries would be designated as unoccupied critical habitat for the Hine’s emerald 

dragonfly under proper application of the ESA.  The recovery of the Hine’s emerald dragonfly 

through the protection of critical habitat, particularly if those lands owned by MNA were 

designated as critical habitat and even more so if in subsequent years the dragonfly were to 

occupy these sanctuaries, would thus enhance the enjoyment MNA members and staff currently 

gain from their interest in the dragonfly and the sanctuaries that MNA maintains.   

20. Defendant GALE NORTON is sued in her official capacity as the Secretary of the 

Interior.  The Secretary is the federal official in whom the ESA vests final responsibility for 

making decisions and promulgating regulations required by and in accordance with the ESA, 

including proposed and final critical habitat designations.  

THE ENDANGERED SPECIES ACT 

21. The ESA is a federal statute designed “to provide a means whereby the ecosystems 

upon which endangered species and threatened species depend may be conserved, [and] to 
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provide a program for the conservation of such endangered species and threatened species . . . . ” 

16 U.S.C. § 1531(b). 

22. To achieve these objectives, the ESA requires that the Secretary protect such species by 

listing them as either “threatened” or “endangered,” and by designating “critical habitat” for 

each listed threatened or endangered species.  16 U.S.C. § 1533. 

23. Critical habitat is defined in the ESA as: 

(i) the specific areas within the geographical area occupied by the 
species, at the time it is listed in accordance with the [Act], on which 
are found those physical or biological features (I) essential to the 
conservation of the species and (II) which may require special 
management considerations or protection; and  

(ii) specific areas outside the geographical area occupied by the species 
at the time it is listed in accordance with the provisions of section 1533 
of this title, upon a determination by the Secretary that such areas are 
essential for the conservation of the species. 

16 U.S.C. § 1532(5)(A). 

24. “Conservation” is defined as the use of all methods and procedures needed to bring the 

species to the point at which listing under the Act is no longer required.  16 U.S.C. § 1532(3).  

Thus, by protecting areas essential for the conservation of species, critical habitat designations 

aid in the recovery of species to the point where ESA protections are no longer necessary. 

25. Under the ESA, the Secretary must designate critical habitat for each threatened or 

endangered species “concurrently” with listing the species to the maximum extent prudent and 

determinable.  16 U.S.C. § 1533(a)(3)(A).  The Secretary “may, from time-to-time thereafter as 

appropriate, revise such designation.”  16 U.S.C. § 1533(a)(3)(B). 

26. Under FWS’ regulations, a critical habitat designation is “not determinable” at the time 

a species is listed only when one or both of the following situations exist: 

(i) Information sufficient to perform required analyses of the impacts of 
the designation is lacking, or  
 
(ii) The biological needs of the species are not sufficiently well known 
to permit identification of an area as critical habitat.  

50 C.F.R. § 424.12(a)(2).   
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27. In those situations where critical habitat is “not determinable” at the time of listing, the 

Secretary may take up to one additional year to determine which areas constitute critical habitat 

for the species.  However, “not later than the close of such additional year the Secretary must 

publish a final regulation, based on such data as may be available at the time, designating, to the 

maximum extent prudent, such habitat.”  16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(6)(C)(ii).   

28. The Secretary’ duty to designate critical habitat is not discretionary.  The Secretary 

may not indefinitely “withdraw” critical habitat proposals.    See 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(6)(A)(ii).   

29. In order to effectuate the purposes of the ESA, federal agencies are required to engage 

in consultation with FWS to “insure that any action authorized, funded, or carried out by 

[federal agencies] is not likely to . . . result in the destruction or adverse modification of habitat 

of such species . . . determined . . . to be critical . . . .” 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2) (also known as 

“Section 7 consultation”). 

THE ENDANGERED HINE’S EMERALD DRAGONFLY 

30. The Hine’s emerald dragonfly, Somatochlora hineana, is so named because of its 

brilliant emerald eyes and dark, metallic-green body.  Only a few sites in North America 

currently provide habitat for this species—scattered locations in Wisconsin, Illinois, Michigan’s 

Upper Peninsula, and Missouri.   

31. The Secretary has repeatedly acknowledged that the destruction of habitat is the 

primary threat facing this species.  

32. On October 4, 1993, the Secretary published a proposed rule to list the Hine’s emerald 

dragonfly as an endangered species in the Federal Register.  58 Fed. Reg. 51,604 (Oct. 4, 1993).  

In this publication, the Secretary noted that “the greatest threat to the species . . . is habitat 

destruction.”  Id. at 51,605.   

33. On December 10, 1993, the Secretary extended the time period for public comment on 

the proposed rule to list the dragonfly by 30 days.  58 Fed. Reg. 64,927 (Dec. 10, 1993).  In this 

publication, the Secretary stated that “[t]he Hine’s emerald dragonfly has been proposed for 

listing as an endangered species due to strong evidence that its range and numbers have declined 



 

Complaint for Declaratory Judgment  
9 and Injunctive Relief 

dramatically, primarily as a result of the destruction of habitat, and that the threats to its habitat 

are continuing.”  Id. 

34. On May 12, 1994, the Secretary published in the Federal Register a notice reopening 

the comment period and establishing a date for a public hearing on the proposed rule.  59 Fed. 

Reg. 24,678 (May 12, 1994).  In this publication, the Secretary reiterated that the dragonfly’s 

range and population has “declined dramatically, primarily as a result of the destruction of its 

habitat . . . .” Id. 

35. On January 26, 1995, the Secretary published a final rule listing the Hine’s emerald 

dragonfly as an endangered species under the ESA.  60 Fed. Reg. 5,267 (Jan. 26, 1995).   

36. The final rule stated that the dragonfly’s “continued existence is now threatened by 

human actions that are altering the environment much faster than the environmental change the 

dragonfly would have experienced in the past . . . .”  Id. at 5,269.  “The greatest threat to the 

species in Illinois and Wisconsin is habitat destruction and degradation.  In Wisconsin’s Door 

County, land development by agricultural, tourist, and recreational interests pose various threats 

to Hine’s emerald dragonfly sites.”  Id. at 5,270.  “In Illinois, the remaining sites for the Hine’s 

emerald dragonfly . . . are in the Chicago metropolitan area and represent the fastest-growing 

counties in that area.  The sites in these counties are already highly fragmented and are further 

threatened by urban and industrial development.”  Id. 

37. Despite the extensive site-specific knowledge of the Hine’s emerald dragonfly 

evidenced in the final listing rule, the final rule stated that critical habitat could not be 

designated at the time the dragonfly was listed as endangered.  Id. at 5,271.  The Secretary came 

to this conclusion despite her own repeated acknowledgement that habitat destruction was the 

primary threat to the dragonfly and despite having specific knowledge of several sites where 

Hine’s emerald dragonfly populations reside.   

38. On July 13, 1999, the Secretary published in the Federal Register a notice of 

availability of a draft recovery plan for the dragonfly.  64 Fed. Reg. 37,806 (July 13, 1999).  

Again the Secretary indicated that habitat destruction was the primary threat to the species, 
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stating that “[f]ragmentation and destruction of habitat are believed to be the main reasons for 

this species’ ‘endangered’ status and continue to be the primary threats to its recovery.”  Id.   

39. On May 14, 2001, the Secretary published a notice that it intended to propose 

designating critical habitat for the Hine’s emerald dragonfly in Illinois, Michigan, Missouri, and 

Wisconsin.  66 Fed. Reg. 25,510, 25,556 (May 14, 2001).  However, the Secretary classified this 

action as a “long-term action.”  Id.  This Federal Register document did not contain an actual 

critical habitat proposal, and did not provide any indication of when such proposal would be 

issued or when such designation would be completed.   

40. On September 27, 2001, the Secretary completed the final recovery plan for the Hine’s 

emerald dragonfly.  The recovery plan contains numerous statements about the importance of 

protecting the dragonfly’s habitat in order to effectuate the species’ recovery.  The plan states 

that “[l]oss of [the dragonfly’s] already rare and restricted habitat to agriculture, commercial and 

industrial development is the primary cause of the species’ decline.  Loss of remaining habitat 

from the same pressures . . . are threats to surviving populations.”  Id. at iii.  These pressures are 

numerous: 

The known breeding sites in Illinois [have] been fragmented by 
industrial and urban development.  In Wisconsin, land development for 
agriculture, light industry and tourism are principal threats.  Off-road 
vehicle use and possibly logging, creation of water impoundments, real 
estate development, road development and maintenance, pipeline 
construction, and changes in hydrology are potential threats in 
Michigan.  In addition, the species is vulnerable to loss of habitat 
caused by off-site hydrology alterations and groundwatershed 
development affecting the groundwater-fed seeps and springs. 

Id. at 1.  The recovery plan thus concluded that habitat destruction and alteration is the most 

significant threat to the species’ continued existence.  Id. at 19.  The plan went on to state that 

“the recovery of the species will depend on ensuring adequate suitable habitat and protection of 

that habitat.”  Id. at 21.   

41. On December 3, 2001, the Secretary published notice that it had “withdrawn” any 

attempt to designate critical habitat for the dragonfly despite the Secretary’s continued 

acknowledgement of the importance of protecting the habitat of the species.  66 Fed. Reg. 
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61,664, 61,714 (Dec. 3, 2001).  The notice indicates that this decision occurred on September 

10, 2001—barely two weeks after the completion of the Hine’s emerald dragonfly recovery 

plan, which repeatedly documents that habitat destruction is the most pressing threat facing the 

continued existence of the species.  This finding was not supported by any documentation or 

statements in the Federal Register, and is at odds with the statements made in every document 

ever published by the Secretary regarding the threats to the species.   

42. The primary threat to the continued existence of the Hine’s emerald dragonfly is the 

destruction of the species’ habitat.     

43. In 1992 and 1993, Dr. Everett (“Tim”) Cashatt of the Illinois State Museum provided 

the Secretary with documentation of specific Hine’s emerald dragonfly locations and breeding 

sites in Illinois.  Dr. Cashatt recommended that many of these areas be designated as critical 

habitat for the dragonfly.  Dr. Cashatt provided maps to the Secretary identifying the areas 

recommended for critical habitat protection. 

44. Mr. Tim Vogt of the Nature Conservancy provided the Secretary with a critical habitat 

proposal for Hine’s emerald dragonfly habitats in Door County, Wisconsin.  Mr. Vogt provided 

maps to the Secretary identifying the areas recommended for critical habitat protection. 

45. None of the major habitat destroying activities that threaten the Hine’s emerald 

dragonfly have undergone Section 7 consultation.  The Secretary has only issued one biological 

opinion for the Hine’s emerald dragonfly.  This biological opinion did not address the primary 

threats facing the species as defined by previous federal register notices and/or the Hine’s 

emerald dragonfly recovery plan.  The Secretary has never issued a biological opinion for any 

other activity that threatens the Hine’s emerald dragonfly.   

THE SECRETARY’S ABUSE OF THE “NOT DETERMINABLE” EXCEPTION 

46. The Hine’s emerald dragonfly was listed as an endangered species on January 26, 

1995.  At that time, the Secretary found that critical habitat for the species was “not then 

determinable.”  60 Fed. Reg. 5,267 at 5,271.  Pursuant to the ESA, the Secretary was thus 

required to designate critical habitat for the Hine’s emerald dragonfly by January 26, 1996.  16 
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U.S.C. § 1533(b)(6)(C)(ii).  It is now approximately eight years after the statutory deadline.  The 

Secretary still has not designated critical habitat for the Hine’s emerald dragonfly.    

47. On May 14, 2001, the Secretary acknowledged her duty to designate critical habitat for 

the Hine’s emerald dragonfly.  The Secretary published notice that she intended to propose 

designating critical habitat for the Hine’s emerald dragonfly in Illinois, Michigan, Missouri, and 

Wisconsin.  66 Fed. Reg. 25,510, 25,556 (May 14, 2001).     

48. However, On December 3, 2001, the Secretary stated that an outstanding proposal to 

designate critical habitat for this species had been “withdrawn.” 66 Fed. Reg. 61,664 at 61,714 

(Dec. 3, 2001).  The Secretary provided no explanation for this statement. 

49. The decision to “withdraw” the critical habitat proposal is nonsensical.  At the time the 

Hine’s emerald dragonfly was proposed for listing, the Secretary argued that critical habitat for 

the species was “not determinable.”  At the time of final listing, the Secretary argued that critical 

habitat for the Hine’s emerald dragonfly was “not determinable.”  No proposal to designate 

critical habitat for this species has ever been published in the Federal Register.  Thus, the 

Secretary’s decision to “withdraw” gives the incorrect impression that a proposal to designate 

critical habitat existed.    

50. The failure to designate critical habitat is thus a violation of a non-discretionary duty 

imposed on the Secretary by the ESA.  In the face of such a violation, courts are required to 

“order the Secretary to perform such act or duty” pursuant to the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(1), 

and to “compel agency action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed” pursuant to the 

APA.  5 U.S.C. § 706(1). 

51. To the extent that the Secretary believes that she has issued a final determination not 

designating critical habitat for the Hine’s emerald dragonfly through the withdrawal notice in 

2001, the decision violates the ESA within the meaning of the APA.  5 U.S.C. § 706(2).  

// 

// 

// 
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CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Failure to Designate Critical Habitat for the Hine’s Emerald Dragonfly 

(Violation of 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(6)(C)) 
 

52. Each and every allegation set forth in of this Complaint is incorporated herein by 

reference. 

53. The Secretary is violating the ESA by not designating critical habitat for the Hine’s 

emerald dragonfly.  By not designating critical habitat for the Hine’s emerald dragonfly, the 

Secretary is failing to perform a non-discretionary duty under the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 

1533(b)(6)(C), and/or acting in a manner that violates the ESA within the meaning of the APA, 

5 U.S.C. § 706. 

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

FOR THESE REASONS, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter judgment 

providing for the following relief: 

 A. A declaratory judgment that the Secretary is violating the ESA and APA by 

failing to designate critical habitat for the Hine’s emerald dragonfly; 

 B. Injunctive relief requiring the Secretary to designate critical habitat for the Hine’s 

emerald dragonfly in compliance with the ESA and APA by a date certain; 

 C. An order awarding Plaintiffs’ their costs of litigation, including reasonable 

attorneys’ fees as provided in the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(4), and/or the Equal Access to 

Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412; and 

 D. Provide such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 




